Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



# Clinical Parkinsonism & Related Disorders

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/prdoa

# Abnormalities of smooth pursuit in Parkinson's disease: A systematic review



翔

### Karen Frei

Loma Linda University, Loma Linda, CA, United States

## ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Oculomotor abnormalities Smooth pursuit eye movements Saccadic pursuit Parkinson's disease

## ABSTRACT

Smooth pursuit eye movement (SPEM) abnormalities are commonly seen in Parkinson's disease (PD). Both reduced speed and saccades seen during SPEM, also known as saccadic pursuit (SP), have been studied in PD. A comprehensive literature review analyzed 26 studies of SPEM and PD. It appears that a greater proportion of PD patients have SPEM abnormalities consisting of reduced SPEM gain and/or SP compared to the normal population. It is not clear whether SPEM abnormalities are present early in the disease or begin sometime during disease progression. SPEM abnormalities may be correlated with disease severity but do not fluctuate or respond to dopaminergic medication in the same manner as other motor symptoms in PD. SPEM in PD is composed of normal SPEM interspersed with SP composed of both catch up and anticipatory saccades. This differs from other neurodegenerative disorders and may be related to an inability to inhibit extraneous saccades or to increased distraction reflecting executive dysfunction. Because the basal ganglia are involved in SPEM physiology, degeneration of the SNr neurons in PD may explain abnormal SPEM in this disorder. Since dementia, aging and medication effects influence SPEM, they should be controlled for in future studies of SPEM in PD. SP is easily detected on clinical exam and may be a biomarker for the disease or for disease progression. Oculomotor testing can be an important part of the Parkinson's exam.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Methods	2
3.	Prevalence of SPEM abnormalities	2
4.	Disease severity	2
5.	Correlation with motor symptoms	3
6.	Directionality.	3
7.	SPEM speed (gain)	3
8.	SPEM latency	3
9.	SPEM accuracy	3
10.	SPEM saccadic pursuit	5
11.	Medication effects on SPEM	6
12.	DBS effects on SPEM	6
13.	Other effects on SPEM	6
	13.1. Cognitive performance and attention	6
14.	Age	7
15.	Conclusions	7
	Declaration of Competing Interests	7
	References	7

#### 1. Introduction

Oculomotor abnormalities are known to occur in many neurodegenerative disorders including Parkinson's disease (PD). Corin et al (1972) reported 75% of PD patients to have some kind of oculomotor abnormality [1] which was later confirmed by Cipparrone et al (1988) [2] and Nakamura et al (1991) [3]. Predominantly, abnormalities in saccades, vergence and smooth pursuit have been described in PD. Saccades are found to be hypometric with extraneous saccades suggesting a loss of inhibition for unwanted eye movements. Convergence insufficiency is found in PD producing diplopia with near vision. Smooth pursuit eye movements (SPEM) have also been reported to be abnormal with reduced gain or speed of eye movement and saccadic pursuit (SP). SPEM gain is not easily evaluated clinically and measurement requires laboratory equipment. SP are saccadic eye movements seen during SPEM. While not reported to cause clinical abnormality, SP is easily detectable on physical exam and can be seen in PD. SPEM abnormalities have been found in early stages of PD and may be present in the prodromal stages of PD [4]. This topical review will focus on abnormalities of SPEM in PD.

SPEM are conjugate eye movements performed to keep a moving object fixated on the fovea. SPEM in PD has been evaluated for accuracy, speed and quality. SPEM abnormalities are found to be greater in the PD population with an estimated prevalence of 67% in PD compared to 20% in healthy controls [5].

The basal ganglia may be involved in efficient and automatic SPEM performance [6]. Anatomical studies showing activity in the caudate, globus pallidus and thalamus during SPEM implicates basal ganglia participation [7–9]. The Substantia Nigra pars reticulata (SNr) in particular, is thought to modulate both saccades and SPEM [10]. SNr degeneration in PD likely alters the patterns of SNr neuronal activity resulting in defects in both saccades and SPEM [9].

Further defining characteristics of SPEM abnormalities in PD were sought through this literature review. SPEM abnormalities, their prevalence, association with disease progression and medication influence on SPEM abnormalities were specific areas of interest.

#### 2. Methods

A search for English language peer reviewed study articles, from inception through 2019, using the Medline database via PubMed, a service of the National Library of Medicine's National Center for Biotechnology Information (https://www.ncbi.nlmlniglgov) was performed with the following search terms: eye movement abnormalities OR oculomotor abnormalities OR interrupted smooth pursuit OR saccadic smooth pursuit OR cogwheel pursuit OR saccadic pursuit OR smooth pursuit OR catch up saccades OR saccadic intrusions during smooth pursuit AND Parkinson's disease. A total of 819 articles were found with the above search. Articles describing a study of SPEM in PD were included. Articles were reviewed by title and abstract for applicability and duplicates were removed. A total of 18 articles were identified. Eight additional articles were added based upon references from the reviewed articles. Three articles were added later for a total of 29 articles analyzed in this review. See Fig. 1.

#### 3. Prevalence of SPEM abnormalities

Not all patients with PD have SPEM abnormalities. In fact Corin et al (1972) reported from 46 to 63% of their PD patients with normal SPEM [1]. Cipparrone et al (1988) found abnormal SPEM in 61% of their PD patients [2]. Measuring the frequency at which SP began called the cogwheel pursuit threshold, Shibsaki et al (1979) found a reduced cogwheel pursuit threshold in 6 out of 19 PD patients compared to 2 out of 10 normal controls [5]. So it appears that SPEM



Fig. 1. Methods of SPEM literature review.

abnormalities appear to occur more frequently in the PD population, but not everyone with PD will have SPEM abnormalities.

It is not known whether SPEM abnormalities are present early and throughout the disease course or present later in the disease. Three studies reported prevalence of SPEM abnormalities and average disease duration in their study population. Bares et al (2003) studied 21 drug naïve early PD patients with mean disease duration of 2.2 years. Approximately two-thirds of their patients had a reduction in eye displacement gain compared to controls [11]. Linder et al (2012) reported no reduction in SPEM gain in their drug naïve newly diagnosed PD patients with a mean disease duration of 1.2 years [12] and Pinkhardt et al (2009) found 4 out of 27 PD patients with reduced SPEM gain compared to controls having a mean symptom duration of 8.2 years [13]. No conclusions can be made regarding SPEM gain in drug naive early PD (Table 1).

#### 4. Disease severity

There is controversy over whether there is a correlation between disease severity, duration and SPEM abnormalities. Eight studies found a correlation and three did not, however measurements differed between studies. See Table 2. Two studies looked at SP and found a correlation between SP and rigidity [5,14]. Three studies measured SPEM speed and found a greater reduction in SPEM velocity in more advanced stages [14–16]. Two studies of pursuit ocular movements (POM) found a correlation between the POM score and Hoehn and Yahr and Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale score (UPDRS) [17,18]. Linder et al (2012) found a correlation between the axial UPDRS score and SPEM gain of their PD patients [12]. Zhang et al, 2016 found a correlation between SPEM gain and disease duration and UPDRS scores [19].

However, Machner et al (2010) found a reduction in SPEM gain only in symptomatic parkin mutation carriers but not in asymptomatic parkin mutation carriers or in early onset PD patients. Their symptomatic patients did not differ in UPDRS scores from the early onset PD, however disease duration in the early onset PD patients was not specified and it is possible that the early onset PD patients had not progressed to the point of development of SPEM abnormalities [20].

Pinkhardt et al (2012) did not find any correlation between SPEM gain and UPDRS or rapid alternating hand movement score or disease duration [21]. Fukushima et al (2015) found no significant difference in Hoehn and Yahr scale, UPDRS or disease duration between PD patients with abnormal and normal initial pursuit during the simple ramp test [22]. So it is possible, but not clear as to whether there is a correlation between disease severity or duration and SPEM abnormalities.

#### Table 1

SPEM abnormalities and disease severity correlations.

Study	SPEM measurement	rigidity	bradykinesia	tremor	H + Y	UPDRS	PD disease duration
Shibasaki et al, 1979	SP:	yes	no	no			
	Cogwheel pursuit threshold						
White et al, 1983	SP:	yes	yes				
	% time spent in normal SPEM						
	SPEM gain						
Rascol et al, 1989	SPEM gain:				yes		
	Peak Velocity						
Leukwuwa et al, 1999	SPEM gain		yes				
Marino et al, 2007	SPEM gain:				yes	yes	
	Pursuit ocular movement						
Marino et al, 2010	SPEM gain:				yes	yes	
	Pursuit ocular movement						
Linder et al, 2012	SPEM gain					Axial score	
						yes	
Zhang et al, 2016	SPEM gain					yes	yes
Machner et al, 2010	SPEM gain					No	
Pinkhardt et al, 2012	SPEM gain					No	No
Fukushima et al, 2015	SPEM gain				No	No	No

#### 5. Correlation with motor symptoms

A single study reported a progressive deterioration in SPEM amplitude and velocity with repeated testing akin to the sequence effect characteristic of PD [16]. They attributed this to progressive bradykinesia and hypokinesia.

Sharpe et al (1987) looking at PD patients during on and off motor fluctuations did not find fluctuations in SPEM gain correlating to the motor fluctuations of akinesia and rigidity [23]. SPEM abnormalities do not appear to associate with motor symptoms and do not show fluctuations consistent with motor state.

Comparing SPEM gain in PD patients with freezing of gait (FOG), without FOG and healthy controls, Wu et al (2020) found a reduction in SPEM gain between PD patients and controls but not a significant difference between PD patients with and without FOG [24]. As FOG appears to be associated with more severe motor symptoms, SPEM does not appear to be affected to the same degree.

#### 6. Directionality

The direction of SPEM may influence the degree of SPEM abnormality. Early observational studies found differences with greater degree of SPEM abnormality in the vertical direction as opposed to the horizontal direction. Corin et al (1972) compared SPEM in all four directions, describing abnormalities in vertical up direction in 54% and 50% in the vertical down direction compared to 37% in the horizontal direction [1]. Shibasaki et al (1979) found SP in 33.3% of PD patients in the horizontal direction and in 66.7% in the vertical direction [5].

Three studies did not find a significant difference in SPEM gain between horizontal and vertical directions despite an overall reduction in SPEM gain compared to controls [13,19,25]. Contrary to a previous study, Pinkhardt et al (2012) found significant reductions in SPEM gain in the horizontal and vertical up directions but not in the downward direction [21].

However, the majority of studies looked at the horizontal direction alone [15–18,20,22–25,27,29,30,31,34].

It may be that qualitatively SPEM abnormalities appear to be more prevalent in the vertical direction, but this is not seen using quantitative measurements such as SPEM gain.

#### 7. SPEM speed (gain)

SPEM gain is the most frequent method of quantifying SPEM speed. Laboratory methods are required to measure it. It is defined as the SPEM velocity divided by the target velocity. The closer the gain is to 1, the closer SPEM is tracking the target at its velocity. A total of 24 articles looked at SPEM speed. Eighteen articles measured SPEM gain. (See Table 2). SPEM gain was found to be reduced in PD compared to controls in sixteen of these articles. Twoe articles did not include a control group [3,23]. Six articles measured SPEM speed by other means; eye displacement gain [11] peak velocity [15,16], pursuit ocular movements [17,18] and pursuit eye velocity [22]. In each case the SPEM speed was found to be reduced in PD compared to controls.

The maximum speed at which a target can be adequately tracked is 30 - 40 degrees/second and the speed of the target determines the final speed of tracking [32]. Two studies found the reduction in SPEM gain to be greater with higher target velocities [14,27].

It appears as if SPEM gain is reduced in PD compared to controls but not to the extent found in other forms of parkinsonism. Vidaillhet et al (1994) found reduced SPEM gain in PD compared to controls but not as much of a reduction as compared to those with progressive supranuclear palsy or corticobasal degeneration [26]. Similar findings with greater reduction in SPEM gain in multisystem atrophy compared to PD was found in two studies [12,13].

Comparing other disorders Henderson et al (2011) compared SPEM gain in PD patients to controls and in Huntington's disease (HD). They found a reduction in SPEM gain in the PD patients but not in the control or HD patients [33]. SPEM gain reduction was found in PD and ET compared to controls [34].

SPEM gain reduction was not found in every study. Machner et al (2010) found a significant reduction in SPEM gain only in symptomatic Parkin mutation carriers but not in asymptomatic Parkin mutation carriers or early onset PD patients compared to controls [20]. Rottach et al (1996) did not find any difference in SPEM gain in the five PD patients tested compared to controls [25].

Generally, it appears that SPEM speed is reduced in PD, which may reflect a form of ocular bradykinesia [5].

#### 8. SPEM latency

SPEM latency is the time taken to initiate SPEM. Five studies looked at SPEM latency in PD patients. SPEM latency was found to be prolonged in PD in three studies [25,28,36]. No significant differences between PD and controls were found in two studies [16,29]. It is not clear whether SPEM latency is prolonged in PD.

#### 9. SPEM accuracy

Three studies looked at SPEM accuracy – the correlation of eye movements to the target movement. Two studies found PD SPEM to

## Table 2

Studies of SPEM gain in Parkinson's disease.

Study	#PD/#controls	Age Mean	Mean Dx duration yrs	levodopa	SPEM Gain
		yrs			
White et al, 1983 [14]	14/10	NR	NR	NR	Reduced in PD
Sharpe et al, 1987 [23]	8/0	61	10	Yes	No change in gain between on and off periods
Gibson et al, 1987 [38]	15/15	58	4	none	Reduced in PD
Rascol et al, 1989 [15]	45/30	60.5	NR	20 drug naïve 25 on levodopa	SPEM peak velocity (units not defined)
Nakamura et al, 1991 [3]	24/0 no control	65	NR	yes	Reduced in PD
Vidailhet et al, 1994 [26]	14/12	61.5	11.3	yes	Reduced in PD
Waterson et al, 1996 [27]	13/13	54.7	5.3	yes	Reduced in PD
Rottach et al, 1996 [25]	5/7	67.2	7.5	yes	No change in PD
Lekwuwa et al, 1999 [16]	7/7	55.9	15.4	Yes but studied off meds	Reduced peak velocity in PD
Bares et al, 2003 [11]	21/21	59	2.2	None – given apomorphine during study	Eye displacement gain measured. 33% no change 67% reduced in PD
Marino et al, 2007 [17]	33/33	65.7	NR	Yes	Pursuit ocular movements reduced in PD 0.82 NC 1.15
Pinkhardt et al, 2009 [13]	27/23	62.1	8.2	NR	Reduced in PD
Machner et al, 2010 [20]	14 EOPD	52 54	NR	NR	Reduced in symptomatic Parkin mutation carriers
	9 symptomatic Parkin mutation carriers 13 asymptomatic Parkin mutation carriers 27 control	39			
Marino et al, 2010 [18]	10 drug naïve PD/10 control	58.5	NR	No – drug naive	Reduced pursuit ocular movements PD 0.84 NC 1.2
Henderson et al, 2011 [33]	16/16	61.13	1–10 yrs	yes	Reduced in PD
Pinkhardt et al, 2012 [21]	34 PD 14 PD STN DBS 23 control	63	6.9 10.5	NR	Reduced in PD and PD STN DBS compared to control
Linder et al, 2012 [12]	105/38	70	Median 1.1	NR	Reduced in PD
Helmchen et al, 2012 [28]	17/19	62.1	5.2	yes	Reduced in PD
Fukushima et al, 2015 [22]	25/14	73.5	4.7	yes	Reduced pursuit velocity in PD
Gorges et al, 2016 [30]	31/22	71	6	yes	Reduced in PD
Zhang et al, 2018 [19]	37/39	67.1	5.61	NR	Reduced in PD
Wu et al, 2018 [31]	10PD 10 control 10 young control	64.5 61.2 20	5.7	NR	Reduced in PD
Visser et al, 2019 [34]	21 PD- tremor 23 ET 19 control	65 63 64	6	yes	Reduced in PD and ET compared to controls
Wu et al, 2020 [24]	40PD 20 PD + FOG 20 PD–FOG 37 control	66.5 66.2 NR	4 2	Yes	Reduced in PD compared to controls but no difference between PD+FOG and PD-FOG

# Table 3Saccadic pursuit in Parkinson's disease.

Study	N DD/	SDEM Gain	Macurement of SD	Poculte
Study	Controls	SFEW Gali	measurement of 3r	Results
Corin et al, 1972 [1]	70 PD 30 C	NA	Number of PD patients with abnormal SPEM = jerky or saccadic eye movements	Severe abn:           Up 7           Down 6           Moderate abn:           Up 9           Down 5           Mild abn:           Up 22           Down 24           Right 26           Left 26           Normal:           Up 32           Down 35           Right 44           Left 44
Shibasaki et al, 1979 [5]	19 PD 10 C	NA	Cogwheel pursuit threshold = frequency at which SPEM shows SP	6 PD with reduced cogwheel pursuit threshold
Teravainen and Calne, 1980 [37]	7 PD 6 C	5/7 PD had slow SPEM	Description	3/7 marked SP 2/7 mild SP 1/6 elderly C with few small amplitude saccades during SPEM
White et al, 1983 [14]	14 PD 10 C	PD Mild 0.74 Advanced 0.54 C 0.90	Description and % SPEM	SP frequent, but pts with advanced disease showed saccadic pursuit at all target velocities Reduced %SPEM in advanced PD pts compared to C
Bronstein and Kennard, 1985 [40]	8 PD 8 C	NA	Turnover velocity = target velocity at which the percentage of time SPEM is reduced by 3 dB $$	No difference in turnover velocity between PD and C Increased turnover velocity in PD with predictive SPEM
Cipparrone et al, 1988 [2]	36 PD	NA	Description	22/36 PD with SP 2/22 had only SP no normal SPEM (marked)
Pinkhardt et al, 2009 [13]	27 PD 11 MSAP 8 MSAC 23 C	PD Horiz 0.76 PD Vert 0.65 C Horiz 0.91 C Vert 0.77	Phase angles of saccadic component during SPEM: Onset phase angle (OPA) and End phase angle	Greater OPA = anticipatory saccades, some catch up saccades
Henderson et al, 2011 [33]	16 PD 16 C	PD 0.92 C 0.98	Frequency of saccades to distractors/total number of distracters	PD more erroneous saccades to distracters than C
Fukushima et al, 2015 [22]	30 PD 14 C	Peak pursuit eye velocity PD 5.9 C 10.2	% SPEM initial pursuit	7/29 PD pts with saccadic initial pursuit 100% C initial pursuit
Gorges et al, 2016 [30]	31 PD 32 C	PD 0.64 C 0.91	Videooculography and correlated with fMRI	<ol> <li>Anticipatory saccades during SPEM reduced SPEM gain</li> <li>Abn attributed to predominantly executive dysfunction</li> </ol>
Wu et al, 2018 [31]	10 PD 10 C 10 young controls (YC)	PD 0.92 C 0.98 YC 1.08	Saccade rate during SPEM	PD 2.25 saccades/s C 1.4 saccades/s YC 1.2 saccades/s

be less accurate [11,40] and one did not find any significant difference in position error [38]. PD patients may have less accuracy, not following the target as closely during SPEM.

#### 10. SPEM saccadic pursuit

Also referred to as "cogwheel pursuit", "interrupted smooth pursuit", "multistep" and "saccadic intrusions", SP has been described, but rarely quantified [1,2,5,11,13,15,27,30,31,33,37]. Eleven articles looked at SP (See Table 3). Not all PD patients appear to have SP and in some cases SP is present in the normal population. Corin et al (1972) reported 38 out of 70 PD patients with SPEM abnormalities described as slow and jerky [1]. Teravainen and Calne (1980) reported 5 out of 7 PD patients to have SP with 3 graded as marked and 2 with mild SP. One healthy control showed few small amplitude saccades interspersed with normal SPEM [37].

Most of the time PD patients were described to have a mixture of normal SPEM with SP. More advanced PD patients were thought to have SP alone when performing smooth pursuit [2,13,14,37]. Cipparrone et al (1988) reported 22 out of 36 PD patients to have SP with 2 out of those 22 having only SP and no normal periods of SPEM. They did not find any correlation between age at onset or disease severity and presence of SP; but disease duration greater than 10 yrs appeared to be the most significant factor [2].

Five articles attempted to quantify SP with methods ranging from measurement of the cogwheel pursuit threshold to the saccade rate during SPEM. Bronstein and Kennard (1985) measured the turnover velocity of SPEM which was defined as the target velocity at which the percentage of time spent in normal SPEM was reduced by 3 dB. They did not find any difference in the turnover velocity between the PD patients and normal controls [40].

Two studies looked at the percentage of time spent in SP or normal SPEM. White et al (1983) noted a reduction in the percentage of time spent in normal SPEM in PD patients compared to controls. This was dependent upon the target velocity with a greater amount of SP occurring at greater target velocities. PD patients spent less time in normal SPEM exhibiting a greater amount of time in SP with advanced disease patients having SP even at the lowest target velocities [14]. Wu et al (2018) found PD patients to have higher saccade rates during pursuit (2.2 saccades/s) compared to both age matched and young controls (1.4 and 1.2 saccades/s) [31].

SP has been thought to be compensatory for slow SPEM. As such SP was thought to represent "catch up" saccades performed to correct the eve position to align with the target [1,2,5,14,15,27,37]. Because it was related to slower eye movements, SP was proposed to be a measure of oculomotor bradykinesia [5]. However, further analysis of the saccades performed during SPEM has brought this into question. Saccades occurring ahead of target were designated as anticipatory and saccades occurring behind the target were designated as catch up. Analysis of the phase angles of the saccades during SPEM showed anticipatory saccades interspersed with catch up saccades [13]. They proposed SP to be the cause rather than a result of lower gain. Anticipatory saccades during SP have been found in additional studies [14,30,33,35]. Likewise, Wu et al (2018) found the increased saccades in SP were not triggered by spatial offset stimuli implicating factors other than correction [31]. Analyzing catch up saccades during SPEM in healthy controls compared to saccades, de Brouwer et al (2002) found catch up saccades to be in both forward (catch up) or reverse (anticipatory) directions which differed in amplitude. Both types of saccades during SPEM differed from saccades physiologically [35].

But are the anticipatory saccades truly predictive or are they part of randomly occurring saccades? Predictive or anticipatory saccades are reduced in PD. Patients follow rather than anticipate the target which is thought to be due to increased reliance on vision [40]. Ladda et al (2008) found PD patients impaired in using static visual information as a cue for predictive SPEM [36]. Additionally, PD patients were impaired in predicting target motion onset [28]. Moreover, anticipatory saccades did not improve SPEM; either in accuracy or gain.

SP anticipatory saccades have been proposed to be the result of an inability to suppress extraneous saccades which can be explained by neuroanatomy. When triggered by abnormal firing patterns mediated by the basal ganglia, the superior colliculus which in involved in the release of saccades allows unwanted saccades to occur [30].

Increased distractibility or reduced attention as a result of executive dysfunction may also explain increased SP of PD patients. [13,21,30,33] Using functional MRI, Gorges et al (2016) found reduced functional connectivity in the default mode network to be correlated with poor SPEM performance and increased SP. Specifically the angular gyrus and the superior temporal gyrus appear to be involved with the unwanted release of saccades during SPEM. In fact all of the PD associated oculomotor deficits tested were found to be attributed to executive dysfunction rather than to ponto- cerebellar circuits or to oculomotor brainstem nuclei [30]. Henderson et al (2011) looked at SPEM with distractor stimuli. They found PD patients to have increased error saccades (15.94%) to the distractors especially when appearing distant and ahead of the target compared to controls (5.49%). They concluded difficulty inhibiting automatic responses and distractibility across multiple tasks and modalities were responsible [33].

SP is found not only in PD but in other neurodegenerative conditions, with aging and even in normal controls under conditions of higher target velocities. Genetic conditions such as Hallorvorden-Spatz and Gaucher type 3 have SP [56]. Analyzing the saccades in SP may help to differentiate PD from other conditions. SP is composed of both anticipatory and catch up saccades in PD while only catch up saccades are found in MSA, normal control and the normal aging population [13,31].

In summary, PD patients appear to have increased SP composed of both catch up and anticipatory saccades interspersed between periods of normal SPEM. An inability to suppress extraneous saccades [21,31,33] and possibly attentional or executive dysfunction [13,30,33] are thought to be underlying SP.

#### 11. Medication effects on SPEM

Medication effects on SPEM is not as clear. Ten articles mentioned medication effects. Five articles found improvement in SPEM with dopaminergic medication [1,3,11,18,38] and three did not find any difference [15,27,36]. One article found patients performed worse following levodopa [27]. Two articles compared medication effects with DBS stimulation on and off [21,29]. Three studies reported a fraction of patients with improvement in SPEM with levodopa [1,3,38]. The improvement did not mirror the degree of limb motor improvement. Gibson et al (1987) found an improvement in SPEM gain after treatment with either levodopa or dopamine agonist in half of their patients and no change in gain in the other half. They speculated that the non-improved patients may have had an insufficient dose [38].

Apomorphine was found to improve eye displacement gain in 18 patients with 2 having no improvement and a single patient had worsening of the eye displacement gain [11]. This is in contrast with the findings of Friedman et al (1994) who found a reduction in SPEM gain and an increase in SP following apomorphine injections in healthy controls [41].

Additionally, some medications influence SPEM. The influence of benzodiazepines, antipsychotics and antidepressants among other classes of medication on eye movement were reviewed extensively. Benzodiazepines reduce SPEM gain, increase SP and error. Antipsychotics do not appear to adversely affect SPEM gain, however they may increase SP. Selective serotonin receptor inhibitors may actually improve SPEM gain and reduce SP [42]. Some of the studies reviewed showed an effort to screen for these medications excluding patients taking them from the study [11,15,27,28,34,38].

#### 12. DBS effects on SPEM

Two articles studied the effects of DBS on SPEM [21,29]. Both studies compared DBS on and off states. One study compared PD DBS to PD medication only and controls in the medication on state. The second study compared PD DBS off medications. Only the second study found an improvement in SPEM gain and accuracy and a reduction in SPEM latency in the DBS on/off medication state. It was thought that there may be some influence of medication effect on SPEM which may explain the different outcomes of the two studies. While it is not clear as to whether DBS has an effect on SPEM or not, DBS is thought to have overall beneficial effects on eye movements [43].

#### 13. Other effects on SPEM

#### 13.1. Cognitive performance and attention

Cognitive processes including attention, selection, learning and prediction are all important to SPEM performance. Although visual input is needed to drive SPEM, cognitive control exerts a strong influence over the manner in which that information is used to control eye movements. Selective attention is required to track a specific moving object and to ignore or suppress motion information from other sources [44].

It is well accepted that dementia can affect SPEM. Three studies found a reduction in SPEM gain along with an increase in SP in patients with Alzheimer's dementia [45,46,47]. Because dementia

can coexist with PD, it is important to exclude dementia to be able to see SPEM abnormalities due to PD alone. Many studies excluded patients with significant cognitive difficulties and dementia [12,23,24,27,31,33,34,38]. Four studies looked at measures of cognitive function on SPEM [19,21,22,30]. There was no correlation was found in two studies. Gorges et al (2016) used the battery of neuropsychological tests used by the Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's disease (CERAD) which is a measure of executive function. They found a significant correlation between the CERAD score and SPEM gain. They concluded the oculomotor performance worsened with cognitive decline as seen by the CERAD score [30] confirming prior study results.

#### 14. Age

Because of cell loss and changes in the oculomotor systems observed in aged animals and humans it has been thought that advancing age affects SPEM. In a large cross sectional study of healthy people aged 7–82 years, it was found that the SPEM gain and positional precision followed a U shaped curve with the best performances between 20 and 50 years of age [52]. Sharpe and Sylvester (1978) found smooth pursuit to be affected by aging. They reported restriction in upgaze and convergence in addition to an increased frequency of saccades during SPEM and reduced gain in their normal elderly population aged 19–32 years [48]. Additional studies confirmed these findings [49,50].

Moreover, Wu et al (2018) compared SPEM gain in PD to age matched controls and to younger aged controls and found the lowest SPEM gain to be in PD patients. The highest SPEM gain was found in young controls with an intermediate value in age matched controls. Saccade rates during pursuit (SP) were found to be higher in PD patients but not in age matched or young controls. There was no difference between SP rates in the aged matched and young controls. This would indicate a reduction in SPEM gain with age and a significantly reduced SPEM gain in PD patients compared to age matched controls. SP appears not to be affected by age [31].

However, in a longitudinal study of healthy elderly over 75 years of age, Kerber et al, (2006) found no change in SPEM gain over nine years [51]. Compensatory mechanisms may be responsible as no difference in SPEM tracking gain in the elderly normal population was found in the natural setting which suggests a difference between the laboratory and natural setting [53].

Because aging most likely has an effect on SPEM, the majority of studies compared PD patients with an age matched control population.

#### 15. Conclusions

Oculomotor abnormalities are common in neurodegenerative movement disorders. They may precede or follow motor symptoms and evaluation of oculomotor function may provide valuable information regarding early disease detection or disease progression [58]. Bedside testing of oculomotor function is mostly sufficient with laboratory testing for subtle abnormalities [58].

There are definite abnormalities of SPEM in PD with a greater proportion of PD patients having reduced SPEM gain and/or SP. It is not clear whether SPEM abnormalities are present early in the disease or begin sometime during disease progression. SPEM abnormalities may be correlated with disease severity but do not fluctuate or respond to dopaminergic medication in the same manner as other motor symptoms in PD. SPEM is composed of normal SPEM interspersed with catch up and anticipatory saccades in PD. This differs from other neurodegenerative disorders and may be related to an inability to inhibit extraneous saccades or to increased distraction reflecting executive dysfunction [59]. SP worsens with disease progression [57]. Because dementia, aging and medication effects influence SPEM, they should be controlled for in future studies of SPEM in PD. SPEM pathways linking the cortex to the basal ganglia with the SNr mediating SPEM may be the basis for abnormalities of SPEM seen in PD [10,54,55,56].

#### **Declaration of Competing Interests**

Nothing to declare.

#### References

- M.S. Corin, T.S. Elizan, M.B. Bender, Oculomotor function in patients with Parkinson's disease, J. Neurol. Sci. 15 (1972) 251–265.
- [2] L. Cipparrone, A. Ginanneschi, F. Degl'Innocenti, P. Porzio, P. Pagnini, P. Marini, Electro-oculographic routine examination in Parkinson's disease, Acta Neurol. Scand. 77 (1988) 6–11.
- [3] T. Nakamura, R. Kanayama, R. Sano, M. Ohki, Y. Kimura, M. Aoyagi, Y. Koike, Quantitative analysis of ocular movements in Parkinson's disease, Acta Otolaryngol. 111 (Suppl. 481) (1991) 559–562.
- [4] R.A. Armstrong, Oculo-visual dysfunction in Parkinson's disease, J. Parkinson. Dis. 5 (2015) 715–726.
- [5] H. Shibasaki, S. Tsuji, Y. Kuroiwa, Oculomotor abnormalities in Parkinson's disease, Arch. Neurol. 36 (1979) 360–364.
- [6] K. Fukushima, J. Fukushima, G.R. Barnes, Clinical application of eye movement tasks as an aid to understanding Parkinson's pathophysiology, Exp. Brain Res. 235 (2017) 1309–1321.
- [7] D.M. Cui, Y.J. Yan, J.C. Lynch, Pursuit subregion of the frontal eye field projects to the caudate nucleus in monkeys, J. Neurophysiol. 89 (2003) 2678–2684.
- [8] A. Yoshida, M. Tanaka, Neuronal activity in the primate globus pallidus during smooth pursuit eye movements:, NeuroReport 20 (2009) 121–125.
- [9] M. Tanaka, Involvement of the central thalamus in the control of smooth pursuit eye movements, J. Neurosci. 25 (2005) 5866–5876.
- [10] M.A. Basso, J.J. Pokorny, P. Liu, Activity of substantia nigra pars reticulate neurons during smooth pursuit eye movements in monkeys, Eur. J. Neurosci. 22 (2005) 448–464.
- [11] M. Bares, M. Brazdil, P. Kanovsky, P. Jurak, P. Daniel, M. Kukleta, I. Rektor, the effect of apomrphine administration on smooth pursuit ocular movements in early Parkinsonian patients, Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 9 (2003) 139–144.
- [12] J. Linder, B.-I. Wenngren, H. Stenlund, L. Forsgren, Impaired oculomotor function in a community-based patient population with newly diagnosed idiopathic parkinsonism, J. Neurol. 259 (2012) 1206–1214.
- [13] E.H. Pinkhardt, J. Kassubek, S. Süssmuth, A.C. Ludolph, W. Becker, R. Jürgens, Comparison of smooth pursuit eye movement deficits in multiple system atrophy and Parkinson's disease, J. Neurol. 256 (2009) 1438–1446.
- [14] O.B. White, J.A. Saint-Cyr, R.D. Tomlinson, J.A. Sharpe, Ocular motor deficits in Parkinson's disease, Brain 106 (1983) 571–587.
- [15] O. Rascol, M. Calnet, J.L. Montastruc, M. Simonetta, M.J. Soulier-Esteve, B. Doyon, A. Rascol, Abnormal ocular movements in Parkinson's disease: evidence for involvement of dopaminergic systems. Brain 112 (1989) 1193–1214.
- [16] G.U. Lekwuwa, G.R. Barnes, C.J.S. Collins, P. Limousin, Progressive bradykinesia and hypokinesia of ocular pursuit in Parkinson's disease, J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 66 (1999) 746–753.
- [17] S. Marino, E. Sessa, G. DiLorenzo, P. Lanzafame, Quantitative analysis of pursuit ocular movements in Parkinson's disease by using a video-based eye tracking system, Eur. Neurol. 58 (2007) 193–197.
- [18] S. Marino, P. Lanzafame, E. Sessa, A. Bramanti, P. Bramanti, The effect of l-Dopa administration on pursuit ocular movements in suspected Parkinson's disease, Neurol. Sci. 31 (2010) 381–385.
- [19] Y. Zhang, A. Yan, B. Liu, Y. Wan, Y. Zhao, Y. Liu, J. Tan, L. Song, Y. Gu, Z. Liu, Oculomotor performance are associated with motor and non-motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease, Front. Neurol. 9 (2018) 960, https://doi.org/10.3389/ fneur.2018.00960.
- [20] B. Machner, C. Klein, A. Sprenger, P. Baumbach, P.P. Pramstaller, C. Helmchen, W. Heide, Eye movement disorders are different in Parkin-linked and idiopathic earlyonset PD, Neurology 75 (2010) 125–128.
- [21] E.H. Pinkhardt, R. Jurgens, D. Lule, J. Heimrath, A.C. Ludolph, W. Becker, J. Kassubek, Eye movement impairments in Parkinson's disease: possible role of extradopaminergic mechanisms, BMC Neurol. 12 (2012) 5.
- [22] K. Fukushima, N. Ito, G.R. Barnes, S. Onishi, N. Kobayashi, H. Takei, P.M. Olley, S. Chiba, K. Inoue, T. Warabi, Impaired smooth-pursuit in Parkinson's disease: normal cue-information memory, but dysfunction of extra-retinal mechanism for pursuit preparation and execution, Physiol. Rep. 3 (2015), https://doi.org/10.14814/phy2:12361 e12361.
- [23] J.A. Sharpe, W.A. Fletcher, A.E. Lange, D.H. Zackon, Smooth pursuit during doserelated on-off fluctuations in Parkinson's disease, Neurology 37 (1987) 1389–1392.
- [24] L. Wu, Q. Wang, L. Zhao, C.-Y. Jiang, Q. Xu, S.-C. Wu, Y.-R. Dong, Q. He, W. Chen, J.-R. Liu, Clinical and oculomotor correlated with freezing of gait in a Chinese cohort of Parkinson's disease patients, Front. Aging Neurosci. 12 (2020) 237.
- [25] K.G. Rottach, D.E. Riley, A.O. DiScenna, A.Z. Zivotofsky, R.J. Leigh, Dynamic properties of horizontal and vertical eye movements in parkinsonian syndromes, Ann. Neurol. 39 (1996) 368–377.

- [26] M. Vidailhet, S. Rivaud, N. Gouider-Khouja, B. Pillon, A.-M. Bonnet, B. Gaymard, Y. Agid, C. Pierrot-Deseilligny, Eye movements in parkinsonian syndromes, Ann. Neurol. 35 (1994) 420–426.
- [27] J.A. Waterston, G.R. Barnes, M.A. Grealy, S. Collins, Abnormalities of smooth eye and head movement control in Parkinson's disease, Ann. Neurol. 39 (1996) 249–760.
- [28] C. Helmchen, J. Pohlmann, P. Trillenberg, R. Lencer, J. Graf, A. Sprenger, Role of anticipation and prediction in smooth pursuit eye movement control in Parkinson's disease, Mov. Disord. 27 (2012) 1012–1018.
- [29] M.H. Nilsson, M. Patel, S. Rehncrona, M. Magnusson, P.-A. Fransson, Subthalamic deep brain stimulation improves smooth pursuit and saccade performance in patients with Parkinson's disease, J. Neuroeng. Rehabil. 10 (2013) 33.
- [30] M. Gorges, H.-P. Müller, D. Lulé, E.H. Pinkhardt, A.C. Ludolph, J. Kassubek, The association between alterations of eye movement control and cerebral intrinsic functional connectivity in Parkinson's disease, Brain Imaging Behav. 10 (2016) 79–91.
- [31] C.C. Wu, B. Cao, V. Dali, C. Gagliardi, O.J. Barthelemy, R.D. Salazar, M. Pompplun, A. Cronin-Golomb, A. Yazdanbakhsh, Eye movement control during visual pursuit in Parkinson's disease, PeerJ (2018), https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.5442 e5442.
- [32] C. Rashbass, The relationship between saccadic and smooth tracking eye movements, J. Physiol. 159 (1961) 326–338.
- [33] T. Henderson, N. Georgiou-Karistianis, O. White, L. Millist, D.R. Williams, A. Churchyard, J. Fielding, Inhibitory control during smooth pursuit in Parkinson's disease and Huntington's disease, Mov. Disord. 26 (2011) 1893–1899.
- [34] F. Visser, L.J. Bour, Y.X. Lee, T.R. ten Brinke, A.F. van Rootselaar, Eye movement abnormalities in essential tremor versus tremor dominant Parkinson's disease, Clin. Neurophysiol. 130 (2019) 683–691.
- [35] S. de Brouwer, M. Missal, G. Barnes, P. Lefèvre, Quantitative analysis of catch-up saccades during sustained pursuit, J. Neurophysiol. 87 (2002) 1772–1780.
- [36] J. Ladda, P. Valkovič, T. Eggert, A. Straube, Parkinsonian patients show impaired predictive smooth pursuit, J. Neurol. 255 (2008) 1071–1078.
- [37] H. Teravainen, D.B. Calne, Studies of Parkinsonian movement: 1 Programming and execution of eye movements, Acta Neurol. Scand. 67 (1980) 137–148.
- [38] J.M. Gibson, R. Pimlott, C. Kennard, Ocular motor and manual tracking in Parkinson's disease and the effect of treatment, J.N.N.P. 50 (1987) 853–860.
- [40] A.M. Bronstein, C. Kennard, Predictive ocular motor control in Parkinson's disease, Brain 108 (1985) 925–940.
- [41] L. Friedman, J.A. Jesberger, H.Y. Meltzer, The effect of apomorphine, MK-212 (6chloro-2-[1-piperazinyl]-pyrazine) and placebo on smooth pursuit gain and corrective saccades in normal subjects, Neuropsychopharmacology 11 (1994) 49–62.
- [42] J.L. Reilly, R. Lencer, J.R. Bishop, S. Keedy, J.A. Sweeney, Pharmacological treatment effects on eye movement control, Brain Cogn. 68 (3) (2008) 415–435.
- [43] J.J. FitzGerald, C.A. Antoniades, Eye movements and deep brain stimulation:, Curr. Opin. Neurol. 29 (2016) 69–73.

- [44] G.R. Barnes, Cognitive processes involved in smooth pursuit eye movements, Brain Cogn. 68 (2008) 309–326
- [45] J.T. Hutton, J.A. Nagel, R.B. Loewenson, Eye tracking dysfunction in Alzheimer's type dementia, Neurology 34 (1984) 99–102.
- [46] W.A. Fletcher, J.A. Sharpe, Smooth pursuit dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease, Neurology 38 (1988) 272–277.
- [47] M.A. Kuskowski, S.M. Malone, J.A. Mortimer, M.W. Dysken, Smooth pursuit eye movements in dementia of the Alzheimer type, Alzheimer Dis. Assoc. Disord. 3 (1989) 157–171.
- [48] J.A. Sharpe, T.O. Sylvester, Effect of aging on horizontal smooth pursuit, Invest. Ophthal. Visual Sci. 17 (1978) 475–1468.
- [49] I.S. Curthoys, S.L. Wearne, M.S. Staples, S.T. Aw, M.J. Todd, G.M. Halmagyi, Agerelated changes in human smooth pursuit responses to horizontal step-ramp target trajectories, Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 656 (1992) 823–825.
- [50] R.G. Ross, A. Olincy, J.G. Harris, A. Radant, L.E. Adler, N. Compagnon, R. Freedman, The effects of age on a smooth pursuit tracking task in adults with schizophrenia and normal subjects, Biol. Psychiatry 46 (1999) 383–391.
- [51] K.A. Kerber, G.P. Ishiyama, R.W. Baloh, A longitudinal study of oculomotor function in normal older people, Neurobiol. Aging 27 (2006) 1346–1353.
- [52] J. Maruta, L.A. Spielman, U. Rajashekar, J. Ghajar, Visual tracking in development and aging, Front. Neurol. 8 (2017) 640.
- [53] S. Dowiasch, S. Marx, W. Einhauser, F. Bremmer, Effects of aging on eye movements in the real world. Front. Human Neurosci. 9 (2015) 46.
- [54] R.J. Krauzlis, Recasting pursuit eye movements, J. Neurophysiol. 91 (2004) 591/ 603.
- [55] J. Fukushima, T. Akao, N. Shichinohe, S. Kurkin, C.R. Kaneko, K. Fukushima, Neuronal activity in the caudal frontal eye fields of monkeys during smooth pursuit eye movements: Comparison with the supplementary eye fields, Cereb. Cortex 21 (2011) 1910–1924.
- [56] E. Pretegiani, L.M. Optican, Eye movements in Parkinson's disease and inherited parkinsonian syndromes, Front. Neurol. 8 (2017) 592.
- [57] M. Gorges, E.H. Pinkhardt, J. Kassubek, Alterations of eye movement control in neurodegenerative movement disorders, J. Ophthalmol. (2014) 658243.
- [58] I. Jung, J. Kim, Abnormal eye movements in Parkinsonism and movement disorders, J. Mov. Disord. 12 (2019) 1–13.
- [59] E.H. Pinkhardt, J. Kassubek, Ocular motor abnormalities in Parkinsonian syndromes, Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 17 (2011) 223–230.

#### **Further reading**

[39] G. Westheimer, Eye movement responses to a horizontally moving visual stimulus, Arch. Ophthalmol. 52 (1954) 932–941.